
 

Governance, Audit, Risk Management 
and Standards Committee  Agenda 

Date: Wednesday 5 July 2023 
 
Time: 6.30 pm 
 
Venue: The Auditorium - Harrow Council Hub, Kenmore 

Avenue, Harrow, HA3 8LU 

Membership  (Quorum 3)  

Chair: Councillor Kanti Rabadia  

Conservative Councillors: Philip Benjamin 
Kuha Kumaran 
Yogesh Teli 
 

Labour Councillors: Ghazanfar Ali 
Rashmi Kalu 
Antonio Weiss (VC) 
 

Conservative Reserve Members: 1. Govind Bharadia 
2. Nitesh Hirani 
3. Nicola Blackman 
4. Paul Osborn 
 

Labour Reserve Members: 1. Dan Anderson 
2. Peymana Assad 
3. Dean Gilligan 
  

 
Contact:  Arun Birah 
Tel:  020 8424 1196 E-mail: arun.birah@harrow.gov.uk 

Scan this code for the electronic agenda: 

 
 



Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee - 5 July 2023 2 

Useful Information 

Joining the Meeting virtually 

The meeting is open to the public and can be viewed online at London Borough of Harrow 
webcasts 
 
Attending the Meeting in person 
 
Directions by car: 
 
Go along Kenmore Avenue and head towards the Kenton Recreation Ground.  When 
approaching the end of the Kenmore Avenue turn right before reaching the Kadwa Patidar 
Centre. 
 
The venue is accessible to people with special needs.  If you have specific requirements, 
please contact the officer listed on the front page of this agenda. 
 
You will be admitted on a first-come-first basis and directed to seats. 

Please:  

(1) Stay seated. 
(2) Access the meeting agenda online at Browse meetings - Governance, Audit, Risk 

Management and Standards Committee 
(3) Put mobile devices on silent.  
(4) Follow instructions of the Security Officers. 
(5) Advise Security on your arrival if you are a registered speaker. 

Filming / recording  

This meeting may be recorded or filmed, and if you choose to attend, you will be deemed to 
have consented to this.  Any recording may be published on the Council website. 
 
Agenda publication date:  Tuesday 27 June 2023 

https://harrow.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
https://harrow.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=850&Year=0
https://moderngov.harrow.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=850&Year=0


 

Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee - 5 July 2023 3 

Agenda - Part I  
1. Attendance by Reserve Members  

To note the attendance at this meeting of any duly appointed Reserve Members. 
 

2. Declarations of Interest  
To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary or non pecuniary interests, arising from 
business to be transacted at this meeting, from all Members present. 
 

3. Minutes (Pages 5 - 10) 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 23 May 2023 be taken as read and signed as a 
correct record. 
 

4. Public Questions  
To note any public questions received. 
  
Questions will be asked in the order in which they were received.  There will be a time 
limit of 15 minutes for the asking and answering of public questions. 
  
[The deadline for receipt of public questions is 3.00 pm, Friday 30th June.  
Questions should be sent to publicquestions@harrow.gov.uk    
No person may submit more than one question]. 
 

5. Petitions  
To receive petitions (if any) submitted by members of the public/Councillors. 
 

6. Deputations  
To receive deputations (if any). 
 

7. References from Council and other Committees/Panels  
To receive references from Council and any other Committees or Panels (if any). 
 

8. Treasury Management Annual Outturn Report 2022/23 (Pages 11 - 28) 
Report of the Director of Finance & Assurance 
 

9. INFORMATION REPORT - Audit Update 2021/22 (Pages 29 - 32) 
Report of the Director of Finance & Assurance 
 

10. Any Other Urgent Business  
Which cannot otherwise be dealt with. 
 

11. Exclusion of the Press Public  
To resolve that the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items 
of business, on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of confidential 
information in breach of an obligation of confidence, or of exempt information as defined 
in Part I of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972:  
  
  

Agenda Item No  Title  Description of Exempt 
Information  

12 Information Report – Q4 
Corporate Risk Register 
2022/23  

Information relating to the 
financial or business 
affairs of any particular 

mailto:publicquestions@harrow.gov.uk


 

Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee - 5 July 2023 4 

person (including the 
authority holding that 
information)  

  
  
 
Agenda - Part II  

12. INFORMATION REPORT – Q4 Corporate Risk Register 2022-23 (Pages 33 - 82) 
Report of the Director of Finance and Assurance 
 
Data Protection Act Notice  

The Council will record the meeting and will place the recording on the Council’s website. 
  
[Note:  The questions and answers will not be reproduced in the minutes.] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee - 23 May 2023 Page 1 

 

Governance, Audit, Risk 
Management and Standards 

Committee  

Minutes 

23 May 2023 
Present:   

Chair: Councillor Kanti Rabadia 
 

 
 

Councillors: Ghazanfar Ali 
Kuha Kumaran 
Govind Bharadia                         

Yogesh Teli 
Antonio Weiss 
Dean Gilligan 

 
 
 
 
 
 

57. Attendance by Reserve Members   

RESOLVED:  To note the attendance at this meeting of the following duly 
appointed Reserve Members: 
  
Ordinary Member                                                  Reserve Member 
  
Councillor Philip Benjamin                                     Councillor Govind Bharadia 
  
Councillor Rashmi Kalu                                         Councillor Dean Gilligan 
 

58. Declarations of Interest   

RESOLVED : To note that no declarations of interest were declared by 
Members. 
 

59. Minutes   

RESOLVED : That the minutes of the meeting held on 24 January 2023, be 
taken as read and signed as a correct record. 
 

5

Agenda Item 3
Pages 5 to 10



Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee - 23 May 2023 Page 2 

60. Appointment of Vice-Chair   

RESOLVED:  To appoint Councillor Antonio Weiss as Vice-Chair of the 
Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee for the 
2023/2024 Municipal Year. 
 

61. Public Questions   

RESOLVED : To note that no public questions were received. 
 

62. Petitions   

RESOLVED : To note that no petitions had been received. 
 

63. Deputations   

RESOLVED : To note that no deputation had been received. 
 

64. Establishment of the Standards Working Group   

RESOLVED : That a Standards Working Group be established to meet as 
required and comprise Councillors Yogesh Teli and Antonio Weiss and an 
Independent Person who would chair the meeting. 
 

65. References from Council and other Committees/Panels   

RESOLVED : It was noted that none were received. 
 

66. Annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement including Prudential 
Indicators, Minimum Revenue Provision Policy Statement,  Annual 
Investment Strategy and Annual Capital Strategy for 2023/24   

The Committee received the Council’s Annual Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement including Prudential Indicators, Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy Statement the Annual Investment Strategy, and the Annual 
Capital Strategy for 2023/24. 
  
This strategy was approved by Cabinet and Council in February 2023. 
  
An Officer introduced the report and drew particular attention to page 17 of 
the report which set out the Council’s borrowing requirements for 2022/2023. 
The Officer stated that although borrowing was going up, this would be funded 
through internal borrowing. One of the reasons why the Council’s borrowing 
has gone up was due to the rise in interest rates. The Officer then provided a 
summary of the report and invited questions and comments from Members. 
  
Members were then given the opportunity to ask questions and these were 
responded to accordingly by officers. 
  
RESOLVED : That the report be noted. 

  
  
  

6



Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee - 23 May 2023 Page 3 

 
67. Corporate Anti-Fraud Annual Plan 2023-24   

The Committee received a report which set out the 2023/24 Corporate Anti – 
Fraud Plan. 
  
An Officer introduced the report and stated that the plan is a risk-based plan. 
The Officer explained that the risks are looked at and then risked in terms of 
likelihood and potential impact. The Officer stated that the plan is delivered by 
an in-house team of 5 Officers and highlighted the fact that all Officers were 
accredited counter – fraud trained. 
  
The Officer highlighted the importance of allocating resources to those areas 
with the highest risk of fraud. 
  
In response to comments and questions from Members it was clarified that: 
  

-       The Council’s mandatory E-learning fraud training had a 90% 
completion rate. The Officer highlighted this figure was significant given 
it had only been rolled out for 6 months. 
  

-       The Officer confirmed that they were confident that the targets set out 
on page 84 of the report in relation to the CAFT key performance 
indicators 2023/2024 would be met. 
  

-       Internal Fraud referrals tend to be given an element of priority. 
  

-       Harrow regularly meet with Colleagues across London to identify the 
key risks and take any action as required 
  

-       The plan is flexible and if a risk were to be identified mid- year, the plan 
could be amended, and resources could be allocated accordingly. 

  
  
RESOLVED:  That 
(1) the Corporate Anti – Fraud plan 2023/24 be approved 
  
2) the annual plan process, the plan develop process, and the resources 
available to complete the plan be noted. 
 

68. 2021-22 Audit Completion Report   

An Officer introduced the report and requested that Members note the Audit 
Completion Report 2021/22. The purpose of the report was to Communicate 
to Members the completion of the audit of the Council’s statement of accounts 
for the year ending 31 March 2022, highlighting remaining outstanding areas 
as set out in Section 02 (Status of the audit) of the report. 
  
The Officer stated that the draft accounts were published before the 31st July 
2022, however the deadline for the audit accounts 30th November 2022 was 
not met. This was not met as the auditors experienced delays in finalising the 
audit work on the valuation of property, plant and equipment and investment 

7



Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee - 23 May 2023 Page 4 

property and there was a national issue in relation to accounting for 
infrastructure assets which impacted every local authority with material 
infrastructure balances. 
  
The Officer explained that that the Audit was paused in November 2022, 
however work commenced again in March 2023 and significant progress was 
made since then. 
  
The Officer then set out to Members the executive summary of the report and 
drew particular attention to the audit opinion which stated subject to resolution 
of the matters outlined in the report, the auditors anticipate issuing an 
unqualified opinion, without modification, on the financial statements. 
  
The Officer stated that the significant findings of the audit were set out in 
section 4 of the report. 
  
The Officer explained that a new national issue has arisen in relation to the 
Council’s reporting of its assets and liabilities associated to its membership of 
the Harrow Pension Fund and highlighted that this will impact upon the timing 
of the completion of the audit.  
  
The Officer then went onto explain the risks highlighted by the External 
auditors in the report and updated Members on the Council’s response to 
these risks. 
  
Members were then given the opportunity to ask questions and were informed 
that: 

-       Harrow was not the only Local Authority experiencing a delay in the 
completion of the 2021/2022 external audit, and this was an issue 
faced by many other Council’s as a result of the national issues 
explained in the report. 

-       The Council did not have to pay any penalty charge as a result of 
the delay. 

  
The external auditors from Mazars were invited to present Appendix 1 audit 
completion report. The lead partner from Mazars clarified that the majority of 
the 2021/ 2022 audits across the UK had not yet been completed. The 
external auditor explained that one of the key risks identified was surrounding 
the valuation of the property, plant and equipment. It was confirmed that this 
has been an increasing area of scrutiny for all external auditors. 
  
Members of the Committee were then given the opportunity to ask questions 
of the external auditors and were informed that: 
  

-       The lead audit partner from Mazars stated that he hoped that the 
2021/2022 audit would be completed before the 31st July. This was 
however dependent on the Mazars findings based on the recent 
guidance issued by CIPFA and The National audit Office which was 
received after the report was published. 

8



Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee - 23 May 2023 Page 5 

-       It was confirmed that the work on the property, plant and equipment 
was now at a more progressed stage than in comparison to the 
previous GARMS meeting. 

-       The external auditors confirmed that each year they are required to 
look at different areas of the audit and introduce an element of 
randomness as required to do so by the auditing standards. 

-       It was confirmed that an updated version of the 2021/2022 audit 
completion report would come to the next GARMS meeting in July. 
  
  
RESOLVED: That the 2021/2022 audit completion report be noted. 
(Note : The meeting, having commenced at 6.30pm, closed at 
6.47pm) 

 

(Signed) Councillor Kanti Rabadia 
Chair 
 
 
 
 
 

9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
REPORT FOR: 
 

Governance, Audit, Risk 
Management and Standards 
Committee (GARMS) 

 
Date of Meeting: 
 

 
5th July 2023 

Subject: 
 

Treasury Management Annual Outturn Report 
2022/23 
 

  
Responsible Officer: 
 

Dawn Calvert, Director of Finance and 
Assurance 
 

  
Exempt: 
 

No 

  
Wards affected: 
 

All wards 
 

Enclosures: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 1 Link Group Economic 
Commentary 
Appendix 2 Borrowing Rate Summary 2022/23 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

11

Agenda Item 8
Pages 11 to 28



Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 
 

 
This report sets out the Treasury Management Outturn position for 2022/23.  

Recommendations:  
Committee is requested to: 
 

1. Note the Treasury Management outturn position for 2022/23. 
 

2. Refer this report to the Cabinet. 
 

Reason:  (for recommendations)   
 

3. To promote effective financial management and comply with regulations issued 
under the the Local Government Act 2003, the CIPFA Code of Practice on 
Treasury Management, and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance,  
along with meeting the requirements of the Council’s Financial Regulations. 
 

4. To keep Members informed of Treasury Management activities and performance 
for 2022/23. 
 

 
Section 2 – Report 
 
 
1.0 Background 

 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present the Council’s Annual Treasury 

Management outturn position for 2022/23 in accordance with the Council’s 
Treasury Management Practices and  in compliance with the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Treasury Management  Code of 
Practice.  The Council has complied with all elements of the Treasury Management 
Strategy Statement (TMSS) as the treasury management function.   
 

1.2 Treasury management comprises: 
 

• Managing the  Council’s borrowing to ensure funding of the Council’s  current 
and future Capital Programme is at optimal cost; 

• Investing surplus cash balances arising from the day-to-day operations of the 
Council to obtain an optimal return while ensuring security of capital and 
liquidity. 

 
1.3 The annual revenue budget includes the revenue costs that flow from capital 

financing decisions. Under the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice and 
the CIPFA Prudential Code, increases in capital expenditure should be limited to 
levels whereby increases in interest charges and running costs are affordable 
within the Council’s revenue account. 
 

1.4 The Council regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to 
be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management 

12



activities will be measured. Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury 
management activities will focus on their risk implications for the organisation to 
ensure the security and liquidity of the Council’s treasury investments. 
 

1.5 The Council recognises that effective treasury management will provide support 
towards the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is therefore 
committed to the principles of achieving value for money in treasury management, 
and to employing suitable comprehensive performance measurement techniques, 
within the context of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice. 
 
 

2.0 Reporting Requirements 
 

2.1 The Council and/or Cabinet are required to receive and approve, as a minimum, 
three main reports each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates 
and actuals. 

   
Treasury Management Strategy Statement  Report – The first, and most 
important report is presented to the Council in February and covers: 
• The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS), which details how the 

investments and borrowings for capital expenditure are to be organised, 
including Treasury Limits and Prudential Indicators. 

• The Annual Investment Strategy which forms part of the TMSS, (the parameters 
on how investments are to be managed). 

• the MRP Policy (how capital expenditure is charged to revenue over time). 
 

The 2022/23 TMSS was presented to Council on 24th February 2022. 
 
Mid-Year Review Report  – This is presented to Cabinet in December/January 
and updates Members on the Treasury Management activity of the Authority within 
within the context of the approved TMSS.  This also includes progress of the 
Capital Programme and reporting on  Prudential Indicators to give assurance that 
the treasury management function is operating within the Treasury Limits and 
Prudential Indicators set out in the TMSS. 
 
The 2022/23 Mid-Year Report was presented to Cabinet on  8th December 
2022 
  
Treasury Management Outturn Report – This report, typically presented to 
Cabinet in June/July, provides a review of the treasury management activity over 
the financial year and includes details of a selection of actual Prudential and 
Treasury Indicators and actual treasury operations compared to the estimates 
originally included within the TMSS.  
 
This report fulfills this reporting requirement which is specified in section C93 (ii) in 
the Financial Regulations. 

 
2.2 Scrutiny – The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised, normally 

before being recommended to Cabinet / Council, with the role being undertaken 
by the Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee 
(GARMS).  The Council has complied with the CIPFA Treasury Management Code 
of Practice to the extent that all Treasury Management reports have been 

13



scrutinised, though the efficient conduct of the Council’s business may require 
consideration by GARMS subsequent to consideration by Cabinet/Council due to 
the practicalities of the committee timetable.  

 
2.3 The Council has delegated responsibility for the implementation and regular 

monitoring of its treasury management policies and practices to the Section 151 
Officer. The Section 151 Officer chairs the Treasury Management Group (TMG), 
which monitors the treasury management activity and market conditions monthly.  

 
 
3.0 Matters covered in the Report 

 
3.1 The Treasury Management Outturn Report for 2022/23 includes a summary of the 

actual positions in respect of the Authority’s: 
• Capital Expenditure, Financing and Limits  
• Treasury Position as at 31st March 2023 
• Summary of 2022/23 Strategy 
• Economic update for 2022/23  (Appendix 1) 
• Borrowing Rate Summary for 2022/23 (Appendix 2) 
 
 

4.0 Options considered 
 

4.1 The report is in accordance with the reporting requirements of the CIPFA Treasury 
Management Code of Practice. 
 

 
5.0 Treasury Management Outturn Report 2022/23 
 
5.1. The Treasury Management Strategy Statement, (TMSS), for 2022/23 was 

approved by Council in February 2022 . It stated that for the next three years the 
Capital Programme would continue to be funded from grants and revenue 
resources but that substantial borrowing would also be required. 
 

 
6.0    The Council’s Capital Expenditure and Financing 
 
6.1. The Council undertakes capital expenditure on long-term assets.  These activities 

may either be: 
• Financed immediately through the application of capital or revenue resources 

(capital receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions etc.), which has no 
resultant impact on the Council’s borrowing need; or 

• If insufficient financing is available, or a decision is taken not to apply resources, 
the capital expenditure will give rise to a borrowing need.  
  

6.2. The actual capital expenditure forms one of the required prudential indicators.  The 
tables below show the actual capital expenditure for 2022/23 against that budgeted 
and how this was financed. 

 
 

14



 
Table 1: Capital Expenditure 

Capital Expenditure 
2021/22 
Actual  
£'000 

2022/23 
Revised 

Budget £'000 

2022/23 
Actual 
£'000 

2022/23 
Variance 

£'000 

Resources  Directorate       5,598      12,129        3,641  (8,488) 
People's Directorate       2,258      28,915        3,265  (25,650) 
Place Directorate     36,261      62,263      18,482  (43,781) 
Total General Fund     44,117    103,307      25,388  (77,919) 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA)     30,529      52,855      14,988  (37,867) 
Total Capital Expenditure     74,646    156,162      40,376  (115,786) 

 
 
Table 2: Financing of Capital Expenditure 

Finance of Capital Expenditure 

2021/22 
Actual 
£'000 

2022/23 
Actual 
£'000 

 
General Fund (GF)     

Capital receipts 376               3,541  

Capital Grants     5,449      6,593  

BCiL     1,756      3,477  

NCiL        161         209  

Section106        398         613  

Revenue              -    
Total External Funding       8,140      14,433  
Borrowing Requirement (GF)     35,977      10,955  
Total GF Funding      44,117      25,388  
 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA)     

Capital receipts     7,185      1,761  

Capital Grants   16,156    1,400  

Section106        100         419  

Revenue     6,403      7,621  
Total External Funding     29,844      11,201  
Borrowing Requirement (HRA)           685        3,787  
Total HRA Funding     30,529      14,988  
      
Total General Fund & HRA Funding      74,646      40,376  
Total External Funding      37,984      25,634  
Total Borrowing Requirement     36,662      14,742  

 
 
6.3. Further details of the capital expenditure position are included within the Revenue 

and Capital Outturn Report 2022/23 to be reported to Cabinet 27th July 2023.  

15



 
7.0 The Councils Overall Borrowing Need 

 
7.1. The Council’s underlying need to borrow to finance capital expenditure is termed 

the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR).  The CFR increases within any net 
financing need for the year and reduces through the application of resources, 
including an annual charge to the revenue budget, the Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP). 
 
Gross Debt and the CFR  

7.2. In order to ensure that borrowing levels are prudent over the medium term and 
only for a capital purpose, the Council ensure that its gross external debt 
(borrowing plus other long term liabilities such as PFI and Finance Leases) does 
not, except in the short term, exceed the total CFR in the preceding year (2022/23) 
plus the estimates of any additional borrowing requirement for the current 
(2023/24) and the next two financial years.  The table below highlights the 
Council’s gross debt position for 2022/23 of £432.2m against the CFR in 2022/23 
of £579.7m which shows that the Council has complied with this Prudential 
Indicator and stayed within it’s CFR. 

 
Table 3: Gross Debt and CFR 
Capital Financing Requirements (CFR) 2021/22 

Actual 
£’000 

2022/23 
Draft Actual 

£’000 
General Fund 430,661 418,900 
HRA 157,439 160,808 
Total CFR 588,100 579,708 
Gross Debt 438,519 432,216 
Under/(Over) Borrowing 149,581 147,492 

 
Financing Costs to Net Revenue Stream 

7.3. This Prudential Indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and 
other long term obligation costs net of investment income), against the net revenue 
stream.  The actual financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream for 
2022/23 compared to 2021/22 is included within table 4 below. 
 
Table 4: Financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream 
Ratio of financing costs to net 
revenue stream % 

2021/22 
Actual 

 

2022/23 
Draft Actual 

 
General Fund 16% 16% 
HRA 20% 20% 
Total CFR 16% 16% 

 
The Authorised Limit 

7.4. The Authorised Limit is the “Affordable Borrowing Limit” required by S3 of the Local 
Government Act 2003.  Once this has been set, the Council does not have the 
power to borrow above this level.   
 

7.5. The Authorised Limit for 2022/23 was originally set as part of the 2022/23 TMSS 
at a total of £695m for borrowing and other long term liabilities. In light of the 
revised capital programme, as part of the 2023/24 TMSS which went to Cabinet in 

16



February 2023, the 2022/23 Authorised Limit was revised to £685m consisting of 
£660m (borrowing) and £25m (other long term liabilities). 
 

7.6. With a gross borrowing figure of £432.2m, the table below demonstrates that 
during 2022/23 the Council has maintained gross borrowing within its Authorised 
Limit.  
 
Table 5: Authorised Limit 
Authorised Limit £’000 
Set as part of: 

2022/23 
2022/23 TMSS 

 

2022/23 
2023/24 TMSS 

 
Borrowing 668,857              659,884 
Other Long Term Liabilities 26,303 24,955 
Total  695,160 684,839 

 
 
The Operational Boundary 

7.7. The Operational Boundary is the expected borrowing position of the Council during 
the year.  Periods where the actual position is either below or over the boundary 
are acceptable subject to the Authorised Limit not being breached. 
 

7.8. The Operational Boundary for 2022/23 was originally set as part of the 2022/23 
TMSS at a total of £655m.  This was revised to reflect the revised capital 
programme as part of the 2023/24 TMSS to £645m, consisting of £630m 
(borrowing) and £15m (other long term liabilities). 

 
7.9 With a gross borrowing figure of £432.2m, the table below demonstrates that 

during 2022/23 the Council has maintained gross borrowing within its Operational 
Boundary Limit. 

 
Table 6: Operational Boundary 
Operational Boundary £’000 
Set as part of: 

2022/23 
2022/23 TMSS 

 

2022/23 
2023/24 TMSS 

 
Borrowing 638,857              629,884 
Other Long Term Liabilities 16,303 14,955 
Total  655,160 644,839 

 
 

8.0    Treasury Position as at 31 March 2023 
 

Borrowing Outturn (excluding borrowing by PFI and finance leases) 
8.1. The Council has maintained an internal borrowing strategy for a number of years, 

forgoing lost investment income on investments to use its cash balances to 
temporarily fund capital expenditure and avoid external borrowing costs.  This has 
proved efficient given the differential between short term investment returns and 
borrowing costs.  Table 3 shows that internal (or under) borrowing as at 31st March 
2023 was £147m (£149m as at 31st March 2022).  
 

8.2. No additional external borrowing was undertaken during 2022/23, and the 
Council’s underlying need to borrow, measured by the increase in the Capital 
Financing Requirement, showed a small reduction of £8m over the period.    

 

17



8.3. The borrowing portfolio of some £422m reduced slightly in 2022/23 to £417m, 
comprising £343m of PWLB loans and £74m of Market loans, and at the 31st March 
2023 the portfolio was running at an average interest rate of 3.45% and an average 
life of 35 years. 
 

 Table 7: Borrowing Portfolio 
Borrowing 
Portfolio 
£’000 
 

31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 

 Principal Average 
Rate (%) 

Average 
Life (yrs) 

Principal Average 
Rate (%) 

Average 
Life (yrs) 

PWLB 348,461 3.45 35.06 343,461 3.43 34.41 
Market 73,800 3.53 40.72 73,800 3.53 39.56 
Total  422,261 3.46 36.05 417,261 3.45 35.32 

 
 
8.4. The maturity structure of the debt portfolio remained within the Prudential Indictor 

limits set as part of the 2022/23 Treasury Management Strategy.  The maturity 
structure table below includes one Lenders Option Borrowers Option (LOBO) 
market loan at its next call date, which is the earliest date the lender can require 
repayment. Table 8 reflects this position in respect of the maturity profile of the 
debt portfolio. 

 
 

 Table 8: Maturity Structure of Borrowing 
Maturity structure of borrowing Lower Upper Actual 

31.03.22 
Actual 

31.03.23 
Under 12 months 0% 40% 6% 6% 
12 months to 2 years 0% 30% 0% 0% 
2 years to 5 years 0% 30% 0% 0% 
5 years to 10 years 0% 40% 5% 5% 
10 years and above 30% 100% 89% 89% 

 
 

8.5. Appendix 2 provides a summary of PWLB maturity loan certainty rates across 
2022/23 over various durations from 1-50 years. 
 
Investment Outturn 

8.6. The Council made investments throughout 2022/23 in accordance with the 
Treasury Management Strategy approved by Full Council in February 2022.  
 

8.7. Due to the internal borrowing strategy being undertaken by the Council, cash 
balances continued to be held on a short term basis for liquidity purposes, in Money 
Market Funds and banks throughout 2022/23.  

  
8.8. Investment returns which had been low during 2021/22 saw significant 

improvement in 2022/23 with the Council investment portfolio earning of an 
average return of 0.81% as set out in Table 9.   

 
8.9. Bank Rate increased steadily throughout 2022/23, starting at 0.75% and finishing 

at 4.25%. Bank Rate has continued to increase after 31 March 2023, and now 
stands at 5.0%.  This will increase investment returns in 2023/24.  

18



 
8.10. The investment portfolio remained highly liquid throughout 2022/23. Investments 

decreased from £98m to £79m over the year while the average rate of interest saw 
a considerable increase from 0.02% as at 31st March 2022 to 0.81% as at 31st 
March 2023.   

 
Table 9: Investment Portfolio 
Investment 
Portfolio 
 

31-Mar-22 31-Mar-23 

 Principal 
£’000 

Average 
Rate (%) 

Average 
Life (days) 

Principal 
£’000 

Average 
Rate (%) 

Average 
Life (days) 

MMF 1,617 0.05 1 1,651 0.20 1 
Banks 96,386 0.02 3 48,743 0.67 3 
UK 
Government 0 0 0 29,000 1.20 7 
Total  98,003 0.02 3 79,394 0.810 5 

 
9.0. Treasury Management Strategy for 2022/23 

 
Investment strategy for 2022/23 

9.1. Investment returns picked up throughout the course of 2022/23 as central banks, 
including the Bank of England, realised that inflationary pressures were not 
transitory, and that tighter monetary policy was called for. 

 
9.2. The sea-change in investment rates meant we were faced with the challenge of 

pro-active investment of surplus cash for the first time in over a decade, and this 
emphasised the need for a detailed working knowledge of cashflow projections so 
that  the appropriate balance between maintaining cash for liquidity purposes, and 
“laddering” deposits on a rolling basis to lock in the increase in investment rates 
as duration was extended, became an on-going feature of the investment 
landscape. 

 
9.3. The expection for interest rates within the treasury management strategy for 

2022/23 (table 10) was that Bank Rate would rise to 1.25%.  
 

`Table 10: Link Asset Services Interest Rate Forecast 2021-2025 (TMSS 2022/23) 

 
 

 

Link Group Interest Rate View  20.12.21

Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23 Jun-23 Sep-23 Dec-23 Mar-24 Jun-24 Sep-24 Dec-24 Mar-25

BANK RATE 0.25 0.25 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.75 0.75 0.75 0.75 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.25

  3 month ave earnings 0.20 0.30 0.50 0.50 0.60 0.70 0.80 0.90 0.90 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00

  6 month ave earnings 0.40 0.50 0.60 0.60 0.70 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.00 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10

12 month ave earnings 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.80 0.90 1.00 1.10 1.10 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20 1.20

5 yr   PWLB 1.40 1.50 1.50 1.60 1.60 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.80 1.90 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00

10 yr PWLB 1.60 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.30

25 yr PWLB 1.80 1.90 2.00 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50

50 yr PWLB 1.50 1.70 1.80 1.90 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30

19



9.4. The Government also supplied funding to local authorities to pass on to 
businesses.  This meant that for most of the year there was much more liquidity in 
financial markets than there was demand to borrow, with the consequent effect 
that investment earnings rates plummeted.  
 

9.5. The Authority’s continuing internal borrowing strategy means that investments are 
kept liquid, with balances expected to be minimised through the use of reserves 
and balances to support internal borrowing, rather than borrowing externally from 
the financial markets. External borrowing would have incurred an additional 
revenue cost, due to the differential between borrowing and investment rates. 
 
Borrowing strategy for 2022/23 
 

9.6. As the interest forecast in table 10 above illustrates, there was expected to be an 
upward movement in PWLB rates over the period from March 2022 to March 2025  
based on the expectation that it would take economies, including the UK, a 
prolonged period to recover all the momentum they have lost in the sharp 
recession caused during the coronavirus shut down period 
 

9.7.  During 2022/23 the Council maintained an internal borrowing position and no new 
external borrowing was taken during the year.  The CFR reduced slightly by £8m 
during 2022/23, which resulted in the internal borrowing position of the Council 
reducing from £149m to £147m.   

 
9.8. This means that the capital borrowing need, (the Capital Financing Requirement), 

was not fully funded with loan debt, as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, 
balances and cash flow has continued to be used as an interim measure. 
 

9.9. The policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances, has 
served well over the last few years.  However, this has been kept under review to 
avoid incurring higher borrowing costs in the future when the Authority may not be 
able to avoid new borrowing to finance capital expenditure and/or the refinancing 
of maturing debt.   
 

9.10. Link Group’s economic review of 2022/23 and their associated interest rate 
forecasts at the start and close of the year are contained in Appendix 1. 
 

 
10.0. Legal Implications  
 
10.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to ‘have regard to’ the 

Prudential Code and to set Prudential Indicators for the next three years to ensure 
that the Council’s capital investment plans are affordable, prudent and 
sustainable. These are contained within this report.  The Act requires the Council 
to set out its treasury strategy for borrowing and to prepare an Annual Investment 
Strategy. This sets out the Council’s policies for managing its investments and 
for giving priority to the security and liquidity of those investments. This report 
assists the Council in fulfilling its statutory obligation under the Local Government 
Act 2003 to monitor its borrowing and investment activities. 

 
 
11.0. Financial Implications  
 

20



11.1 In addition to supporting the Council’s revenue and capital programmes the 
Treasury Management interest budget  is an important part of the revenue 
budget. Any savings achieved, or overspends incurred, have a direct impact on 
the financial performance of the budget 

 
12.0. Procurement Implications 
 
12.1 There are no procurement implication arising from this report  

 
13.0. Risk Management Implications 
 
13.1 This report is for noting and Committee are not being asked to make any 

decisions hence there are no direct risk management implications to this report. 
 
14.0. Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality Duty 
 
14.1 There are no direct equalities impact. Compliance with s.149 of the Equality Act 

is integral to all aspects decision-making. 
 

15.0. Council Priorities 
 
15.1 This report deals with the Treasury Management Strategy which plays a 

significant part in supporting the delivery of all the Council’s corporate priorities. 
 
 
Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 
Statutory Officer:  Dawn Calvert 
Signed by the Chief Financial Officer 
 
Date:  21/06/2023 

Statutory Officer: Caroline Eccles 
Signed on behalf of the Monitoring Officer 
 
Date:  21/06/2023 

Chief Officer:  Dawn Calvert 
Signed on behalf of the Corporate Director 
 

Mandatory Checks 

Ward Councillors notified:   NO as it impacts on all Wards  
 
 

21



Section 4 - Contact Details and Background Papers 
 
 
Contact:  Bola Tobun, Treasury & Pensions Manager, Telephone 020 
8424 9264, Bola.Tobun@harrow.gov.uk 
 
Background Papers:  N/A 

 
 

22



Appendix 1: Link Group Economic Commentary   
 

UK.  Economy - Against a backdrop of stubborn inflationary pressures, the easing of 
Covid restrictions in most developed economies, the Russian invasion of Ukraine, and 
a range of different UK Government policies, it is no surprise that UK interest rates have 
been volatile right across the curve, from Bank Rate through to 50-year gilt yields, for all 
of 2022/23. 

Market commentators’ misplaced optimism around inflation has been the root cause of 
the rout in the bond markets with, for example, UK, EZ and US 10-year yields all rising 
by over 200bps in 2022.  The table below provides a snapshot of the conundrum facing 
central banks: inflation is elevated but labour markets are extra-ordinarily tight, making 
it an issue of fine judgment as to how far monetary policy needs to tighten.   
 

 UK Eurozone US 
Bank Rate 4.25% 3% 4.75%-5% 

GDP 0.1%q/q Q4 
(4.1%y/y) 

+0.1%q/q Q4 
(1.9%y/y) 

2.6% Q4 
Annualised 

Inflation 10.4%y/y (Feb) 6.9%y/y (Mar) 6.0%y/y (Feb) 
Unemployment 

Rate 
3.7% (Jan) 6.6% (Feb) 3.6% (Feb) 

 
Q2 of 2022 saw UK GDP deliver growth of +0.1% q/q, but this was quickly reversed in 
the third quarter, albeit some of the fall in GDP can be placed at the foot of the extra 
Bank Holiday in the wake of the Queen’s passing.  Q4 GDP was positive at 0.1% q/q.  
Most recently, January saw a 0.3% m/m increase in GDP as the number of strikes 
reduced compared to December. In addition, the resilience in activity at the end of 2022 
was, in part, due to a 1.3% q/q rise in real household disposable incomes. A big part of 
that reflected the £5.7bn payments received by households from the government under 
the Energy Bills Support Scheme.   
Nevertheless, CPI inflation picked up to what should be a peak reading of 11.1% in 
October, although hopes for significant falls from this level will very much rest on the 
movements in the gas and electricity markets, as well as the supply-side factors 
impacting food prices.  On balance, most commentators expect the CPI measure of 
inflation to drop back towards 4% by the end of 2023.  As of February 2023, CPI was 
10.4%. 
The UK unemployment rate fell through 2022 to a 48-year low of 3.6%, and this despite 
a net migration increase of c500k.  The fact remains, however, that with many economic 
participants registered as long-term sick, the UK labour force shrunk by c500k in the 
year to June.  Without an increase in the labour force participation rate, it is hard to see 
how the UK economy will be able to grow its way to prosperity, and with average wage 
increases running at over 6% the MPC will be concerned that wage inflation will prove 
just as sticky as major supply-side shocks to food (up 18.3% y/y in February 2023) and 
energy that have endured since Russia’s invasion of Ukraine on 22 February 2022. 
Bank Rate increased steadily throughout 2022/23, starting at 0.75% and finishing at 
4.25%.   

23



In the interim, following a Conservative Party leadership contest, Liz Truss became 
Prime Minister for a tumultuous seven weeks that ran through September and October.   
Put simply, the markets did not like the unfunded tax-cutting and heavy spending 
policies put forward by her Chancellor, Kwasi Kwarteng, and their reign lasted barely 
seven weeks before being replaced by Prime Minister Rishi Sunak and Chancellor 
Jeremy Hunt.  Their Autumn Statement of the 17th of November gave rise to a net £55bn 
fiscal tightening, although much of the “heavy lifting” has been left for the next Parliament 
to deliver.  However, the markets liked what they heard, and UK gilt yields have reversed 
the increases seen under the previous tenants of No10/11 Downing Street, although 
they remain elevated in line with developed economies generally. 
As noted above, GDP has been tepid throughout 2022/23, although the most recent 
composite Purchasing Manager Indices for the UK, US, EZ and China have all surprised 
to the upside, registering survey scores just above 50 (below suggests economies are 
contracting, and above suggests expansion).  Whether that means a shallow recession, 
or worse, will be avoided is still unclear.  Ultimately, the MPC will want to see material 
evidence of a reduction in inflationary pressures and a loosening in labour markets.  
Realistically, that is an unlikely outcome without unemployment rising and wage 
settlements falling from their current levels.  At present, the bigger rise in employment 
kept the ILO unemployment rate unchanged at 3.7% in January. Also, while the number 
of job vacancies fell for the ninth consecutive month in February, they remained around 
40% above pre-pandemic levels.  
Our economic analysts, Capital Economics, expect real GDP to contract by around 0.2% 
q/q in Q1 and forecast a recession this year involving a 1.0% peak-to-trough fall in real 
GDP. 
The £ has remained resilient of late, recovering from a record low of $1.035, on the 
Monday following the Truss government’s “fiscal event”, to $1.23. Notwithstanding the 
£’s better run of late, 2023 is likely to see a housing correction of some magnitude as 
fixed-rate mortgages have moved above 4.5% and affordability has been squeezed 
despite proposed Stamp Duty cuts remaining in place. 
As for equity markets, the FTSE 100 started 2023 strongly, rising to a record high of 
8,014 on 20th February, as resilient data and falling inflation boosted earnings. But global 
equities fell sharply after concerns over the health of the global banking system emerged 
early in March. The fall in the FTSE 100 was bigger than the drop in the US S&P 500. 
Indeed, at around 7,600 now, the FTSE is 5.2% below its record high on 20th February, 
while the S&P 500 is only 1.9% lower over the same period. That’s despite UK banks 
having been less exposed and equity prices in the UK’s financial sector not falling as 
far. It may be due to the smaller decline in UK interest rate expectations and bond yields, 
which raise the discounted value of future earnings, compared to the US.  
 
USA. The flurry of comments from Fed officials over recent months suggest there is still 
an underlying hawkish theme to their outlook for interest rates.  Markets are pricing in a 
further interest rate increases of 25-50bps, on top of the current interest rate range of 
4.75% - 5%. 
In addition, the Fed is expected to continue to run down its balance sheet once the on-
going concerns about some elements of niche banking provision are in the rear-view 
mirror.   
As for inflation, it is currently at c6% but with the economy expected to weaken during 
2023, and wage data already falling back, there is the prospect that should the economy 

24



slide into a recession of any kind there will be scope for rates to be cut at the backend 
of 2023 or shortly after. 
 
EU. Although the Euro-zone inflation rate has fallen below 7%, the ECB will still be 
mindful that it has further work to do to dampen inflation expectations and it seems 
destined to raise rates to 4% in order to do so.  Like the UK, growth has remained more 
robust than anticipated but a recession in 2023 is still seen as likely by most 
commentators.  
 

 

  

25



Appendix 2: Borrowing Rate Summary 2022/23 
 
PWLB RATES 2022/23 

 
 
 

 
 

1.40%

1.80%

2.20%

2.60%

3.00%

3.40%

3.80%

4.20%

4.60%

5.00%

5.40%

5.80%

6.20%
PWLB Rates 1.4.22 - 31.3.23

1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 25 Year 50 Year 50 year qtr forecast %

0.60
1.00
1.40
1.80
2.20
2.60
3.00
3.40
3.80
4.20
4.60
5.00
5.40
5.80
6.20

PWLB Certainty Rate Variations 1.4.22 to 31.3.23

1-Apr-22 31-Mar-23 Average

26



HIGH/LOW/AVERAGE PWLB RATES FOR 2022/23 
 

  1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 25 Year 50 Year 

Low 1.95% 2.18% 2.36% 2.52% 2.25% 

Date 01/04/2022 13/05/2022 04/04/2022 04/04/2022 04/04/2022 

High 
5.11% 5.44% 5.45% 5.88% 5.51% 

Date 28/09/2022 28/09/2022 12/10/2022 12/10/2022 28/09/2022 

Average 3.57% 3.62% 3.76% 4.07% 3.74% 

Spread 3.16% 3.26% 3.09% 3.36% 3.26% 

 
 

 
 
 

27



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Report for: GOVERNANCE, AUDIT, 
RISK MANAGEMENT 
AND STANDARDS 
COMMITTEE 

Date of Meeting: 
 

05 July 2023 

Subject: 
 

INFORMATION REPORT 
Audit Update 2021/22 

Responsible Officer: 
 

Dawn Calvert, Director of Finance 
and Assurance 
 

Exempt: No 
 

Wards affected: All 
 
Enclosures: 
 

 
None 

 

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 

This report provides the Committee with an update on the 2021/22 external 
audit. 
 
Recommendations:  
The Committee is requested to note the following Audit Update 2021/22 for 
the Council.  

Section 2 – Report 
Audit Update 2021/22 

1. This covering report has been prepared to give an update on the 
completion of the audit of the Council’s statement of accounts for the 
year ending 31 March 2022. 

29

Agenda Item 9
Pages 29 to 32



2. At the 23 May 2023 meeting, the auditors presented their audit 
completion report and highlighted two aspects of the Council’s 
accounts where the audit was incomplete. 

3. The following is the latest position on those two items: 
4. Valuation of property, plant and equipment 

• It was reported in May that the auditors had identified several 
issues with the Council’s valuation of its property, plant and 
equipment. They had completed part of their work in this area 
and identified some material adjustments to the Council’s 
accounts.  

• However, there remained some work to complete where the 
auditors are waiting for the Council to provide further 
information, confirm subsequent amendments, select additional 
samples for testing and then complete that testing. 

5. Pensions valuation 

• It was also reported in May that there is a national issue relating 
to the Council’s pensions assets and liabilities as at 31 March 
2022. It has now been agreed that the auditors would carry out a 
programme of work on the pension fund membership data in 
early July.  

• That work remains as planned and the auditors anticipate 
completion by the end of July. 

6. Overall status of the 2021/22 accounts audit 

• As a result of the two outstanding items above the audit remains 
substantially complete but the audit work will not conclude until 
late July. 

7. Status of the 2022/23 accounts audit 

• Assuming the 2021/22 accounts are concluded by the end of 
July, the 2022/23 draft accounts should be published by the end 
of August and will be presented to GARMS at the September 
Committee meeting. 

• The statutory deadline for the 2022/23 draft accounts was the 
31st of May and as it was not met, the council published a notice 
of delay in publishing the accounts on the website as required 
by legislation.  

Legal Implications 
 
There are no direct legal implications arising from this report. 

Financial Implications 

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

30



Risk Management Implications 

Risks included on corporate or directorate risk register? No 
    

Separate risk register in place? No 
  
The relevant risks contained in the register are attached/summarised 
below. n/a 

Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality 
Duty  

Considering the Council’s Public Sector Equality Duties under the Equality Act 
2010, s.149, is integral to the decision- making process. 
 
Was an Equality Impact Assessment carried out?  No 
 
There are no direct equalities implications. 

Council Priorities 

The external audit provides assurance that the Council has managed its 
finances and delivered value for money in accordance with all the Council’s 
priorities. 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 
Statutory Officer:   
Signed by the Head of Strat & Tech Finance (Deputy s151 Officer) 
 
Sharon Daniels 
 
Date:  15 June 2023 

Statutory Officer:   
Signed on behalf of the Monitoring Officer 
 
Caroline Eccles 
 
Date:  15 June 2023 

Chief Officer:   
Signed by the Chief Financial Officer 
 
Dawn Calvert 

31



 
Date:  15 June 2023 

Mandatory Checks 

Ward Councillors notified:  NO, as it impacts on all Wards  

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background 
Papers 

Contact:  Yinka Ehinfun (Chief Accountant) 
Email: Yinka.Ehinfun@harrow.gov.uk 
 
Background Papers:   

1. None 

If appropriate, does the report include the following considerations?  

1 Consultation     No 
2 Priorities    No  

 
 

32



Document is Restricted

33

Agenda Item 12
Pages 33 to 82By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

39

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee  Agenda
	Useful Information
	Joining the Meeting virtually
	Filming / recording



	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	Governance, Audit, Risk Management and Standards Committee
	Minutes
	23 May 2023



	8 Treasury Management Annual Outturn Report 2022/23
	Section 2 – Report
	6.0    The Council’s Capital Expenditure and Financing
	7.0	The Councils Overall Borrowing Need
	8.0    Treasury Position as at 31 March 2023

	10.0.	Legal Implications
	11.0.	Financial Implications
	12.0.	Procurement Implications
	13.0.	Risk Management Implications
	14.0.	Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality Duty
	15.0.	Council Priorities

	Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance
	Mandatory Checks
	Ward Councillors notified:   NO as it impacts on all Wards


	Section 4 - Contact Details and Background Papers

	9 INFORMATION REPORT - Audit Update 2021/22
	Section 2 – Report
	Legal Implications
	Financial Implications
	Risk Management Implications
	Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality Duty
	Council Priorities

	Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance
	Mandatory Checks
	Section 4 - Contact Details and Background Papers

	12 INFORMATION REPORT – Q4 Corporate Risk Register 2022-23
	Appendix 1- Q4 Corporate Risk Register 2022-23


